S227106

SUPREME COURT
FILED

JUN 15 2015

Frank A. McGuire Clerk
Deputy

Case No. _____
2nd Civil No. B259392
Los Angeles Superior Court No. BS143004

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

AMERICAN CIVIL LIBERTIES UNION FOUNDATION OF
SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA and ELECTRONIC FRONTIER
FOUNDATION,
Petitioners,

v.

SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA,
COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES,
Respondent,

COUNTY OF LOS ANGELES, and the
LOS ANGELES COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT, and the CITY
OF LOS ANGELES, and the LOS ANGELES POLICE DEPARTMENT,
Real Parties in Interest.

After a Decision by the Court of Appeal,
Second Appellate District, Division Three (No. B259392)

PETITION FOR REVIEW

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Do data collected by police using “automated license plate readers”—high-speed cameras that automatically scan and record the license plate numbers and time, date and location of every passing vehicle without suspicion of criminal activity—constitute law enforcement “records of . . . investigations” that are permanently exempt from disclosure under the Public Records Act pursuant to Gov’t. Code § 6254(f)?

2. Does Proposition 59—the 2004 amendment to the California Constitution requiring “[a] statute, court rule, or other authority . . . be broadly construed if it furthers the people’s right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access”—require agencies and courts to take a narrow approach when applying the records of investigations exemption under Gov’t. Code § 6254(f)?

II. WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

This case involves Public Records Act (PRA) requests to the Los Angeles Sheriff’s and Police Departments for data collected by “automated license plate readers,” or “ALPRs”—high-speed cameras, mounted on police vehicles or attached to fixed objects like light poles that automatically scan and record the license plate number and time, date and location of every passing vehicle. Respondents below argued (and the Court of Appeal agreed) that, because police use the data collected by ALPRs in part by checking it against lists of vehicles suspected of involvement in criminal activity or registration violations, the act of scanning is an “investigation” of those lists of offenses, and respondents could therefore permanently withhold the collected data from the public as

“records of . . . investigations” pursuant to Gov’t. Code § 6254(f).

The Court of Appeal recognized the novelty of this question—that “no case has considered whether records generated by an automated process, like that performed by the ALPR system, qualify for exemption” as the record of a law enforcement investigation under Gov’t. Code § 6254(f). *See* Slip Op. (attached as Exhibit A) at 7. But the court’s opinion upholding the agencies’ decision to withhold this data broadens the scope of that exemption far beyond previous case law. It also has profound implications for public access to data and images routinely gathered by police using technology ranging from body-worn cameras and public surveillance cameras now to drones and other technologies in the future. Because this case presents important issues of law, including the proper interpretation of § 6254(f) in light of the 2004 amendment to the Constitution requiring a statute be “broadly construed if it furthers the people’s right of access, and narrowly construed if it limits the right of access,” Petitioners respectfully request this Court grant review.

The PRA recognizes access to public records as “a fundamental and necessary right of every person in this state.” Gov’t. Code § 6250— a right that is further enshrined in California’s Constitution, article. I, § 3(b) (“The people have the right of access to information concerning the conduct of the people’s business . . .”). Given the documented history of abuse of police power both within Los Angeles law enforcement agencies and across the country, nowhere is this right more important than to shine light into and act as a check on law enforcement action. Petitioners sought access to a week’s worth of license plate data gathered by the two Los Angeles law enforcement agencies for precisely this reason—to shed light on police use of ALPRs and to learn how and where the agencies were using ALPRs to

collect massive amounts of license plate and location information—data on approximately three million vehicles every week.

The fact that ALPRs collect license plate and location data indiscriminately, scanning every license plate that comes into view, is not disputed. Nor is the fact that the vast majority of license plates scanned by ALPRs (nearly 99.8% by some estimates¹) have no connection to criminal activity or even vehicle registration issues. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeal agreed with the agencies that because the data were collected in part for the purpose of locating stolen and wanted vehicles, every single data point constituted a record of investigation and was therefore exempt under § 6254(f).

By interpreting § 6254(f) to shield from public view this entire class of records, the Court of Appeal improperly expanded the scope of that exemption beyond prior precedent as established by this Court in *Williams v. Superior Court*, 5 Cal. 4th 337 (1993) and *Haynie v. Superior Court*, 26 Cal. 4th 1061 (2001), and so stretched the meaning of “investigation” as to force the absurd result that all cars in Los Angeles are constantly under police investigation.

In doing so, the court also ignored the constitutional directive established in 2004 by Proposition 59 to “broadly construe[]” the Public Records Act to the extent “it furthers the people's right of access” and to “narrowly construe[]” it to the extent “it limits the right of access.” Cal.

¹ Typically, only about 0.2% of plate scans are connected to suspected crimes or vehicle registration issues. ACLU, *You Are Being Tracked: How License Plate Readers Are Being Used to Record Americans' Movements*, 13-15 (July 2013) <https://www.aclu.org/technology-and-liberty/you-are-being-tracked-how-license-plate-readers-are-being-used-record>.

Const. art. I, § 3(b)(2); *accord Sierra Club v. Super. Ct.*, 57 Cal. 4th 157, 166 (2013) (applying Art. I, § 3(b)(2) to require narrow interpretation of the PRA’s exemption for computer software); *Sander v. State Bar of Cal.*, 58 Cal. 4th 300, 313 (2013) (same as to state bar rules). Indeed, the Court of Appeal did not cite the constitutional rule of narrow construction a single time, and instead cited cases that predate the amendment for the proposition that the exemption for law enforcement records is a broad one, without noting any intervening change in interpretive rule. *See Slip Op.* at 6 n.3.

The court also failed to address the fundamental differences between the mass surveillance technology in ALPRs and traditional human policing, and instead mechanically applied old caselaw addressing targeted investigations by human officers to ALPR technology. Indeed, the court’s opinion rests on the presumption that there is no difference between an officer manually checking a single license plate and high-tech surveillance equipment automatically cataloging the locations of millions of vehicles in Los Angeles every week. *See Slip Op.* at 11 (noting that “the ALPR system replicates, albeit on a vastly larger scale, [an officer] visually reading a license plate and entering the plate number into a computer[.] . . . The fact that the ALPR system automates this process does not make it any less an investigation[.] . . .”). This is out of step with courts and commentators that have recognized that legal rules and definitions developed in a pen-and-paper era cannot blindly be applied to new technology capable of collecting data on a mass scale. *See, e.g., United States v. Jones*, 132 S. Ct. 945, 955 (2012) (Sotomayor, J., concurring); *id.* at 958 (Alito, J., concurring) (distinguishing GPS monitoring of a car’s location 24 hours per day for 28 days from one officer following one vehicle on public streets); *Riley v. California*, 134 S. Ct. 2473, 2490 (2014) (distinguishing the search incident

to arrest of small physical items from the search of a cell phone).

As Professor Orin Kerr has noted, “[a]s technology advances, legal rules designed for one state of technology begin to take on unintended consequences.” Orin Kerr, *Applying the Fourth Amendment to the Internet*, 62 Stan. L. Rev. 1005, 1009 (April 2010). The Court of Appeal’s mechanical application of old case law governing what constitutes an “investigation” under § 6254(f) yields an extraordinary result unintended by the Legislature. Even if one officer manually checking a license plate would be performing an “investigation” within the meaning of § 6254(f), the Legislature did not expressly intend the exemption for records of law enforcement investigations to extend to the automated logging of the license plates of millions of law-abiding Los Angeles drivers. But such express legislative authorization is required for public records to be exempt from disclosure. *Sierra Club v. Super. Ct.*, 57 Cal. 4th 157, 166 (2013) (given “strong public policy” and “constitutional mandate” favoring disclosure, “all public records are subject to disclosure unless the Legislature has expressly provided to the contrary” (quotation and citations omitted)).

Under the Court of Appeal’s broad application of § 6254(f)’s investigatory records exemption, law enforcement agencies could withhold from public review virtually unlimited amounts of information gathered on innocent Californians merely by claiming it was collected for an investigative purpose. This would remove an important and necessary check on law enforcement action and cannot be what the Legislature intended when it drafted § 6254(f) in 1968, nor what the voters intended when they added government transparency as a fundamental right to the state constitution in 2004.

The Public Records Act allows public scrutiny of agency records so that the people of California can engage in free and informed debate on questionable government policies and conduct. Recent events clearly demonstrate the value of public access; only this month, Congress passed historic legislation restricting the government’s powers of surveillance by ending the National Security Agency’s bulk collection of telephony metadata. It wasn’t until the facts of this and other secret government programs were disclosed that the public and legislators were able to fully debate and ultimately reshape government policy. So, too, here: Petitioners seek access to public records so that the legal and policy implications of the government conduct at issue may be fully and fairly debated.

The rapid advance of digital-era technology since *Williams* and *Haynie* calls for reexamination of this Court’s analog-era guidelines for determining the scope of the PRA’s “records of . . . investigations” exemption, and Petitioners urge this Court to grant review.

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Court of Appeal’s opinion correctly sets forth the facts of the case. Slip Op. 3-5.

A. The Nature of Automated License Plate Readers

Automated license plate readers, or “ALPRs,” are computer-controlled camera systems—generally mounted on police cars or fixed objects such as light poles—that automatically capture an image of every license plate that comes into view. Slip Op. at 3. ALPRs can detect when a license plate enters the camera’s field, capture an image of the car and its surroundings (including the plate), and convert the image of the license plate into alphanumeric data—in effect “reading” the plate. *Id.* ALPRs

record data on each plate they scan, including not only the plate number but also the precise time, date and location it was scanned. *Id.* at 2, 4. The systems often capture images not just of the license plate and vehicle but also of the vehicle's occupants.²

Police use ALPR data in two ways. First, ALPR systems can compare scanned license plates against a "hot list" of license plates associated with suspected crimes or warrants and alert officers when any match or "hit" in the database occurs so they can take enforcement action. *Id.* at 3. Second, police accumulate and store ALPR data for use in future investigations. *Id.* at 4. LAPD estimates it records plate scan data for approximately 1.2 million cars per week, and retains that data for five years. LASD estimates it records between 1.7 and 1.8 million plate scans per week and currently retains data for at least two years, although it would prefer to retain the data indefinitely. *Id.* These totals indicate that just these two agencies may have close to *half a billion* records of driver location in their databases—an average of nearly 65 plate scans for each vehicle registered in Los Angeles County.³

LAPD and LASD therefore retain vast amounts of data on the location history of Los Angeles drivers—a detailed history compiled on

² See Ali Winston, *License plate readers tracking cars*, SFGate (June 25, 2013) available at <http://www.sfgate.com/bayarea/article/License-plate-readers-tracking-cars-4622476.php> (license plate image clearly showed man and his daughters stepping out of vehicle in their driveway).

³ According to the DMV, 7,719,360 vehicles were registered in Los Angeles County in 2014. Department of Motor Vehicles, *Estimated Vehicles Registered by County for the Period of January 1 Through December 31, 2013*, available at http://apps.dmv.ca.gov/about/profile/est_fees_pd_by_county.pdf (last visited May 28, 2015).

overwhelmingly law-abiding residents that they can query in investigations of future crimes.

B. Petitioners' Public Records Requests and this Action

To understand and educate the public on the risks to privacy posed by ALPRs in Los Angeles, Petitioners sought documents related to LAPD and LASD's ALPR use, including one week's worth of ALPR data collected between August 12 and August 19, 2012.⁴

Both LAPD and LASD withheld the single week of ALPR data, claiming the data were exempt from disclosure under the PRA's exemption for records of law enforcement investigations, Gov't. Code § 6254(f), and the catch-all exemption, *id.* § 6255(a). Petitioners filed a petition for writ of mandate with Respondent Superior Court seeking to enforce the requests. The Superior Court held a hearing on the petition, agreed with the City and County's positions and upheld their decisions to withhold the records. Petitioners petitioned for a writ mandate at the Court of Appeal.

C. Court of Appeal Opinion

The Court of Appeal upheld the trial court's decision, holding that the automated scanning of plates by ALPR systems constitutes a law enforcement "investigation" and that the data collected by ALPR systems—the data sought by Petitioners—were exempt as "records of . . . investigations" under Section 6254(f). *Id.* at 10. The court reasoned that because the agencies use ALPR data in part to check against "hot lists" of wanted vehicles associated with some kind of criminal activity, the license

⁴ Petitioners also sought documents on policies, practices, procedures, training, and instructions related to ALPRs. Those requests are not at issue

plate scanning constitutes an “investigation” of the “hot list” crimes. *Id.* at 10 (“Real Parties have deployed the ALPR system to assist in law enforcement investigations involving an identified automobile’s license plate number. It follows that the records the ALPR system generates in the course of attempting to detect and locate these automobiles are records of those investigations.”).

In reaching its holding, the Court of Appeal recognized that ALPRs collect data automatically and indiscriminately—that an “ALPR system scans every license plate within view, regardless of whether the car or its driver is linked to criminal activity.” Slip Op. at 11 (quotations omitted); *see also id.* at 3 (ALPRs “automatically capture an image of every passing vehicle’s license plate in their immediate vicinity”), 12 (noting that “[t]he ALPR system necessarily scans every car in view”). But the court rejected Petitioners’ argument that this indiscriminate, untargeted scanning meant that the scans were not investigations, emphasizing that data collected through these indiscriminate scans were being used in investigations of specific crimes reflected in the “hot lists” against which scanned plates were compared. *Id.* at 11. The court reasoned the law enforcement investigations exception “does not distinguish between investigations to determine if a crime has been or is about to be committed and those that are undertaken once criminal conduct is apparent.” *Id.* at 11-12 (quoting *Haynie*, 26 Cal. 4th at 1070).

The court also rejected Petitioners’ argument that the mass scale of data collection through ALPRs and the prolonged retention of data made ALPR data fundamentally different from records of traffic stops or other investigations that have been held exempt under the PRA. The volume of data collected, the court reasoned, did not change the character of the act of

collecting it. *See* Slip Op. at 12 (“The fact that ALPR technology generates substantially more records than an officer could generate in manually performing the same task does not mean the ALPR plate scans are not records of investigations.”). Nor did the retention of data and its use in subsequent investigation render it subject to the PRA, as documents that fall within the “records of . . . investigation” exemption are exempt indefinitely, “even after the investigations for which they are created conclude.” *Id.* at 13.

Because the Court of Appeal held the records exempt under § 6254(f), it did not reach the propriety of withholding the data under § 6255’s catch-all exemption. *Id.*

Petitioners did not file a petition for rehearing with the Court of Appeal.

IV. ARGUMENT

A. The Court of Appeal’s Holding Significantly Expands the Exemption for “Records of . . . Investigations” Beyond All Prior Case Law

The Court of Appeal held that, because LAPD and LASD use their ALPR systems to gather data that may be helpful in finding stolen or wanted vehicles, the data must necessarily constitute “records” of these investigations. The Court of Appeal reasoned that “[t]hese records would not exist were the County or the City not investigating specific crimes in an attempt to locate persons who are suspected of having committed crimes.” Slip Op. at 10 (quotation omitted). However, the holding that each ALPR scan is a record of an investigation rather than the collection of data that may be useful in an investigation constitutes a significant expansion over this Court’s prior interpretations of § 6254(f) and would lead to the absurd

conclusion that all drivers in Los Angeles are constantly under investigation, merely because their vehicle may come into view of one of the agencies' ALPR cameras. This result does not fit with any common sense understanding of the term "investigation" as it is used to exempt "records of . . . investigations" in § 6254(f).

1. *No Prior Court Has Held the Indiscriminate Collection of Data on Every Member of the Public to Be an "Investigation" under § 6254(f)*

The PRA defines neither "investigations" nor "records of . . . investigations," and very few courts in California have addressed this section of the statute. However, the few cases to hold records exempt as "records of . . . investigations" under § 6254(f) all involve targeted inquiries into a specific crime or person that fit easily within the common understanding of police investigations, including a traffic stop,⁵ a corruption investigation against a local official,⁶ police internal affairs investigations,⁷ and disciplinary proceedings against police officers.⁸ In no case has a California court ever held that data collected indiscriminately on every member of a community constitute investigative records under 6254(f)—until the Court of Appeal's ruling here.

In the main case to address the investigative records exemption, *Haynie v. Superior Court*, this Court defined "records of investigation exempted under section 6254(f)" as pertaining to "only those investigations

⁵ *Haynie v. Super. Ct.*, 26 Cal. 4th 1061, 1070-71 (2001).

⁶ *Rivero v. Super. Ct.*, 54 Cal. App. 4th 1048, 1050-51 (1997).

⁷ *Rackauckas v. Super. Ct.*, 104 Cal. App. 4th 169, 171 (2002).

⁸ *Williams v. Super. Ct.*, 5 Cal. 4th 337, 341 (1993).

undertaken for the purpose of determining whether a violation of law may occur or has occurred.” 26 Cal. 4th at 1071. In *Haynie*, a man detained by LASD deputies after a civilian reported suspicious activity in the area involving a vehicle similar to his sought records related to his detention and the reasons for it. *Id.* at 1066. This Court held that, because “the investigation that included the decision to stop Haynie and the stop itself was for the purpose of discovering whether a violation of law had occurred and, if so, the circumstances of its commission[,] [r]ecords relating to that investigation [were] exempt from disclosure by section 6254(f).” *Id.* at 1071.

Haynie is readily distinguishable from this case because it involved an investigation targeted from its inception at responding to a specific report of criminal activity. Deputies decided to stop Haynie because they suspected he might be involved in that activity based on the details given in a civilian tip. Therefore all information linked to his stop was also part of the investigation into whether he matched that tip. In contrast, ALPR plate scans are not precipitated by a specific criminal investigation, nor even an officer’s hunch—they are only precipitated by the nonspecific goal of collecting data that may be helpful in locating known stolen or wanted vehicles. ALPR cameras photograph every license plate that comes into view, and the systems store data on up to 14,000 cars during a single shift, regardless of whether the car or its driver is linked to criminal activity. Ex. B at 3 (LASD ALPR Training Presentation).⁹ ALPR systems do not

⁹ LASD released this presentation in response to Petitioner EFF’s original PRA request. The document was included as an exhibit submitted to the

conduct investigations; they collect data.

The Court of Appeal, however, relied on *Haynie*'s description of the investigative records exception to argue that the provision applies to ALPR data, pointing (with emphasis) to *Haynie*'s statement that "section 6254(f) *does not distinguish between investigations to determine if a crime has been or is about to be committed and those that are undertaken once criminal conduct is apparent,*" 26 Ca1. 4th at 1070 n.6 (cited in Slip Op. at 7 (emphasis in Slip Op.)). The court also relied on *Haynie*'s statement:

The records of investigation exempted under section 6254(f) encompass only those *investigations undertaken for the purpose of determining whether a violation of law may occur or has occurred.* If a violation or potential violation is detected, *the exemption also extends to records of investigations conducted for the purpose of uncovering information surrounding the commission of the violation and its agency.*

Id. at 1071 (cited in Slip Op. at 8 (emphasis in Slip Op.)).

But what the Court of Appeal failed to recognize is that *Haynie* addressed a fundamentally different circumstance than this case, one in which officers targeted their investigation of potential criminal activity on a specific vehicle and detained the driver based on a tip. *Id.* at 1065-66. *Haynie*'s holding—that police need not be certain in advance that a crime has been committed for their actions to qualify as an "investigation" under § 6254(f)—is limited by those facts and does not reach the suspicionless mass surveillance conducted by ALPRs.

All of the very small number of other cases holding documents exempt from disclosure under the "records of . . . investigations" clause of

trial court and available as part of the record submitted to the Court of Appeal.

§ 6254(f), are distinguishable for the same reason: they each involve requests for documents related to targeted investigations into specific criminal acts. In *Williams v. Superior Court*, a newspaper requested records of disciplinary proceedings against two deputies involved in a brutal beating of a drug suspect. 5 Cal. 4th at 341. In *Rivero v. Superior Court*, a former police officer requested records relating to the “investigation of a local official for failing to account properly for public funds.” 54 Cal. App. 4th at 1051. And in *Rackauckas v. Superior Court*, a newspaper requested records concerning the investigation of “two separate incidents of alleged police misconduct involving” a specific officer. 104 Cal. App. 4th at 171-72. In each of these cases, the courts found the records were linked to specific criminal investigations and therefore were properly withheld as records of those investigations.

In *Haynie*, this Court stated, “we do not mean to shield everything law enforcement officers do from disclosure.” 26 Cal. 4th at 1071. In doing so, the Court acknowledged the “records of . . . investigations” exemption has limiting principles, even if it did not define at the time what those were. The automated collection of data on millions of innocent drivers in Los Angeles is not an “investigation” within the meaning of *Haynie* or any of the cases to apply its rule. ALPRs do not involve a “decision” to investigate like the “decision to stop Haynie,” *Haynie*, 26 Cal. 4th at 1071; they also do not involve any specific allegations of wrongdoing or a connection to any particular crime. Instead, LPR cameras automatically photograph all plates within view without the driver’s knowledge, without the officer targeting any particular car, and without any level of suspicion. Under no prior cases is such data-gathering an “investigation” for purposes of § 6254(f).

2. *Data Collected To Aid Existing and Future Investigations Do Not Necessarily Become Records of Investigations*

The Court of Appeal also erred by holding the data exempt as “records of . . . investigations” based on the later and separate checks the ALPR systems perform—comparing the scanned plates against a “hot list” of plate numbers that may be associated with criminal activity. But the fact that the data are used later in investigations does not make them “records of . . . investigations.”

Neither the Court of Appeal nor Real Parties suggest that ALPR systems are fundamentally anything but data collection machines, and although the court stated ALPR systems check plates against hot lists “[a]t virtually the same time” they collect plate numbers, the court recognized the collection of data occurs separate from their investigative use. *See* Slip Op. at 2; *id.* at 3 (an ALPR “‘almost instantly’ checks the number against a list of ‘known license plates’ associated with suspected crimes” (emphasis added)). Real Parties acknowledged this in their opposition briefs filed with the Court of Appeal. The County stated, “[t]he parties all agree that *once license plates are scanned* by ALPR cameras, the plates are checked against stolen vehicle databases.” *See* Ex. C at 2 (County Opp’n to Pet. for Writ of Mandate) (emphasis added)). The City similarly described the two-step process of collecting data and checking it against the “hot list,” referring to the “initial plate scan” as simply a “read” that “[c]apture[s] data.” *See* Ex. C at 4 (City Opp’n to Pet. for Writ of Mandate).

The “hot lists” of wanted vehicles represent the fruits of *prior* investigations that have identified certain vehicles as connected with particular crimes, and Petitioners have not sought those “hot lists,” nor the

license plate data associated with those lists. The fact that a very small number of scanned plates will be listed on a hot list does not transform the entire database of plates into investigative records.¹⁰

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