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

DISCUSSION

I.

THERE IS NO NEED FOR REVIEW BECAUSE THE DECISION BELOW IS CONSISTENT WITH CONTROLLING AUTHORITY

This court's role is to "secure harmony and uniformity in the decisions [of the appellate courts], their conformity to the settled rules and principles of law, a uniform rule of decision throughout the state, a correct and uniform construction of the constitution, statutes, and charters, and, in some instances, a final decision by the court of last resort of some doubtful or disputed question of law." *People v. Davis*, 147 Cal. 346, 348 (1905); Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b).

This Petition does not satisfy any of these bases for Supreme Court review or any of the grounds for review in California Rule of Court, rule 8.500(b). There is no split of authority, appellate or otherwise, regarding the meaning of the term "record of investigation," nor is it an important matter of law that is "unsettled." A "record of investigation" is a record generated "for the purpose of determining whether a violation of law may occur or has occurred." *Haynie v. Superior Court*, 26 Cal. 4th 1061, 1071 (2001). That is what ALPR technology does. It generates a record (the

plate scan) which is then compared to a hotlist of specific crimes involving specific motor vehicles. Opn., 3. There is no evidence to the contrary, which means that the trial court's factual findings and inferences in this regard are supported by substantial evidence. On the facts before this court, there is no compelling reason for review.

The ACLU's primary arguments – that ALPR data are not records of investigation because they include plate scans of vehicles that do not appear on hot lists and are retained after the investigation is complete – have no basis in this court's decisional authority. An investigation qualifies as such regardless of the prospect of enforcement, and the records generated to perform it are likewise exempt from disclosure as records of investigation. *Haynie, supra*, 26 Cal.4th at 1070. There is no reported decision to the contrary. Similarly, the fact that an investigation has concluded has no bearing on the exemption. *Williams v. Superior Court*, 5 Cal.4th 337, 361-362 (1993). The fact that ALPR data include plate scans of non-suspect vehicles, and the fact that the County and City retain ALPR data after the investigations are concluded, does not change the fact that ALPR data are records of investigations.

There is similarly no factual support for the ACLU's argument that ALPR data are not records of investigation because ALPR technology does not target specific suspects. ALPR technology includes hotlists of specific suspect vehicles that the County and City are looking for. Opn., 3. The

fact that ALPR data also include plate scans of non-suspect vehicles is no different from the fact that surveillance video obtained during an investigation may well record innocent passersby as well as the sought-after suspect. That does not affect its status as a record of investigation.

Neither the facts nor the law support the ACLU's position, and thus this Petition in effect seeks a change in well-settled statutory law that has been consistently applied by this court and the appellate courts. That is not a basis for review by this court, because the plain language of section 6254(f) requires this result. See *Stephens v. County of Tulare*, 38 Cal.4th 793, 801-802 (2006). The law is clear and the Court of Appeal correctly applied it to the trial court's factual findings. Review by this court would serve no purpose and is not warranted.

II.

ARTICLE I, SECTION 3(b)(2) DOES NOT CHANGE THE CONFIDENTIAL STATUS OF RECORDS OF INVESTIGATION

While this court has discretion to consider issues not raised below, "as a policy matter, on petition for review the Supreme Court normally will not consider an issue that the petitioner failed to timely raise in the Court of Appeal." Cal. Rules of Court, rule 8.500(b); *Jimenez v. Superior Court*, 29 Cal.4th 473, 481 (2002). The ACLU takes the Court of Appeal to task for

its failure to address the implications of Article I, section 3(b)(2) of the California Constitution, but the ACLU failed to raise the issue below. As a result it was neither briefed by the parties nor addressed by the Court of Appeal. However, even if the ACLU had raised the issue below, it does not affect the outcome.

Article I, section 3(b)(5) of the California Constitution expressly provides that Article I, section 3(b) does not “repeal or nullify, either expressly or by implication, any constitutional or statutory exception to the right of access to public records... including, but not limited to, any statute protecting the confidentiality of law enforcement and prosecution records.” This court has held that this language means that courts “may not countermand the Legislature’s intent to exclude or exempt information from the PRA’s disclosure requirements where that intent is clear.” *Sierra Club v. Superior Court*, 57 Cal.4th 157, 166-167 (2013). There is a clear, express statutory intent to exempt records of investigation from the disclosure requirements of the PRA. Govt. Code §6254(f). It is reinforced by section 3(b)(5)’s specific reference to “any statute protecting the confidentiality of law enforcement and prosecution records.” Records of investigation are confidential law enforcement records, and section 3(b)(2) was not intended to change their status under the law.

Review of the authorities applying section 3(b)(2) confirms that no case has held that section 6254(f) must be construed narrowly in derogation

of its plain language exempting all records of investigation from disclosure. This is in contrast to the *Pitchess* statutes, which protect only specific types of peace officer personnel information and thus were impacted by section 3(b)(2). *Long Beach Police Officers Assn. v. City of Long Beach*, 59 Cal.4th 59, 72 (2014) [specific enumeration of exemptions from disclosure supported narrow construction disallowing unspecified exemptions]; *Commission on Peace Officer Standards and Training v. Superior Court*, 42 Cal.4th 278, 294 (2006) [specific exemptions from disclosure demonstrated legislative intent to limit exemptions to confidential information supplied by employee.] Section 6254(f)'s expressly broad exemption of records of investigation, which contains no language limiting its application to certain types of records of investigation, confirms the legislative intent that the exemption apply to all records of investigation. For that reason, section 3(b)(2) does not impact section 6254(f)'s exemption of all records of investigation from disclosure.

III.

GOVERNMENT CODE SECTION 6255's CATCHALL EXEMPTION CONFIRMS THAT THE PUBLIC INTEREST IS BEST SERVED BY CONFIDENTIALITY

The test for withholding a record under the PRA's catch-all exemption is whether "on the facts of the particular case the public interest

served by not disclosing the record clearly outweighs the public interest served by disclosure of the record.” Govt. Code § 6255(a). No facts presented in this case show how the public would have an interest in its driving patterns being made public. Right now, only law enforcement can access the information, only for a legitimate law enforcement purpose, and automatic notifications of the specific location of a particular vehicle only occur if that vehicle is wanted in a crime. Opn., 3. If this court decides that ALPR data are public records, then that information will be available to anyone for any purpose, even nefarious ones.

Balanced against that possibility is the interest the public has in not disclosing the information. The privacy concerns noted above are one weight on that scale. Another is the public interest in the efficient and effective investigation and prosecution of crimes involving motor vehicles, child abduction and murder. Opn., 3; see, e.g., *County of Orange v. Superior Court*, 79 Cal.App.4th 759, 767 (2000) [public interest in apprehension of child’s murderer]; *In re David W.* 62 Cal.App.3d 840, 847 (1976) [public interest in prevention of vehicle theft].) California law recognizes the importance of the public interest in law enforcement with safeguards designed to promote the effective, efficient administration of justice. See, e.g., Govt. Code §821.6 [prosecutorial immunity]. The same considerations confirm that the current state of the law achieves the right result here.

The ACLU claims that it needs the data so that “the legal and policy implications of the government conduct at issue may be fully and fairly debated.” However, the ACLU’s motivation in seeking disclosure is irrelevant, because the public interest controls. *Times Mirror Company, supra*, 53 Cal.3d at 1345-1346. More importantly, the County and City’s use of ALPR technology is not being hidden. The policies have been produced, and the capabilities of ALPR technology have been disclosed. Opn., 4. The City disclosed that in a one-week period it reviewed as a sample, its ALPR cameras generated over 1.2 million plate scans. *Id* The County similarly disclosed that it generated between 1.7 and 1.8 million plate scans in a week. *Id*. A person’s license plate likely is being read by ALPR devices, many times. That knowledge is more of a given than goal. Where the information sought is not likely to disclose something about the workings of government (because it is already known), the public interest in disclosure is not a strong one. See, e.g., *Los Angeles Unified School District*, 228 Cal. App. 4th 222, 242 (2014). There is no dispute that the County and City are generating plate scans, nor is there any dispute regarding how plate scans are being used.

CONCLUSION

The evidence shows that ALPR data is used by the County and the City to investigate crime. There are standards for its use, consequences for its misuse, and potentially devastating consequences to both law enforcement efforts and the privacy of the driving public if the data is disclosed. The current state of the law recognizes ALPR data is a record of investigation, balances the interest in disclosure against the interest in nondisclosure, and properly determines that the records should not be disclosed. There is no reason for this court to grant review.